No. 24-CV-573

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAIRSceived 01/08/2025 03:35 PM Filed 01/08/2025 03:35 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT, APPELLANT,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RELATIONS BOARD, et al., APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL J. SCHIFFERLE **Deputy Solicitor General**

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

While off duty in Maryland, then-District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD") Officer Michael Thomas shot Julio Lemus twice with his service pistol. Lemus nearly died, yet he had committed no crime and had no weapon. Concluding that the shooting was criminal and violated its use-of-force policies, MPD terminated Thomas. The police union appealed to an arbitrator, who agreed that Thomas's actions were illegal, life-threatening, and contrary to MPD policy, but ordered MPD to reinstate Thomas to the force, reducing his penalty to a mere 45-day suspension. The issues on appeal are:

- 1. Whether the arbitration award should be set aside as contrary to the explicit, well-defined, and dominant public policy against the criminal use of deadly force by police officers.
- 2. Alternatively, whether the arbitration award must be set aside where the arbitrator clearly erred when applying *Douglas v. Veterans Administration*, 5 M.S.P.R. 280 (1981), and imposing an arbitrary penalty.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After notice and a hearing, MPD removed Thomas effective March 11, 2011. Joint Appendix ("JA") 972-77. The Fraternal Order of Police/Metropolitan Police Department Labor Committee ("FOP") demanded arbitration on his behalf. JA 993. In November 2017, an arbitrator upheld the disciplinary charges but reduced the

penalty. JA 19-28. MPD petitioned PERB for review. JA 1-18. In May 2018, PERB confirmed the arbitrator's award. JA 1155-59. The Superior Court then affirmed in October 2019, JA 1286-97, and MPD appealed. This Court reversed and remanded. *MPD v. PERB*, 282 A.3d 598, 605-06 (D.C. 2022) ("*Thomas I*"). In March 2023, PERB issued its order on remand, again upholding the arbitrator's award. JA 1161-72. The Superior Court affirmed that decision on May 24, 2024, JA 1311-1326, and MPD timely appealed on June 21, 2024. Clerk's Index 2.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. While Off Duty And Acting Without Police Power, Thomas Twice Shoots Lemus, Who Had Committed No Crime And Had No Weapon.

Two years later after his appointment to MPD, in the early morning hours of September 13, 2009, Thomas was with his girlfriend, MPD Officer Hope Mathis, in a Hyattsville, Maryland, home. JA 140, 700-01, 775-76, 801. They were both off duty and outside MPD's jurisdiction. JA 140, 257, 584, 775, 818-19.

Around 5:00 a.m., the key fob alarm for Thomas's car went off. JA 140, 251, 405, 444, 466, 483-84, 777, 802. Thomas looked outside and saw a figure near the front of his car. JA 140, 777-78, 802. Thomas told Mathis that someone was "messing with" his car. JA 140, 236, 245-46, 248, 703, 720, 778, 803-04. He then retrieved his service pistol and, with Mathis, stepped onto the front porch. JA 141, 176-77, 179-82, 236, 246, 248, 703-05, 709, 720-21, 778-79, 782.

Neither Thomas nor Mathis called 911 before they left the house. JA 721,

762, 804, 806-08, 818. This violated their training. JA 537, 540, 761-63. In September 2007, MPD had issued a bulletin emphasizing that, for non-violent property offenses, the "prudent" course was to call the police before acting. JA 151-52, 559,860, 863-65. Thomas agreed that he was engaging Lemus over merely an attempted non-violent property crime. JA 655, 793-94, 827-30.

From the porch, Thomas and Mathis saw Lemus standing near the front of Thomas's car. JA 236, 248, 251, 405, 703-04, 780. Lemus, who was 20 years old, had been walking home from a nearby residence. JA 396-97, 417, 425-26, 517. He had gone there the night before and consumed many alcoholic beverages. JA 144, 149, 397, 423-25, 436. On his way home, he stopped near Thomas's car to urinate. JA 398, 444. He had no weapon or tool. JA 133, 398-99, 454.

When Thomas and Mathis left the house, Lemus's back was to them and neither could see what he was doing, nor could they tell whether he was committing a crime or had a weapon. JA 249, 251, 406, 704, 722, 750-51, 756, 780, 803. While on the porch, Thomas identified himself as a police officer to scare Lemus away and instructed Lemus to show his hands, although Thomas knew he had no police authority while in Maryland. JA 140, 236, 248-49, 283, 687, 703-04, 748-49, 779, 818-19, 823-27. When Lemus did not run away, Thomas leapt from the porch and ran toward the back of the car to place himself within 10 to 15 feet of Lemus. JA 140, 246, 250, 252-53, 284, 466, 526, 546, 704, 722, 749, 783, 808-09, 813, 815.

Mathis remained on the porch. JA 236, 246, 704.

When Thomas reached the car, Lemus allegedly turned and stepped toward him. JA 236, 246, 252, 704-05, 750. Thomas drew his service pistol and held it in a "tuck" position, close to his chest and pointed toward the ground, although at this point, he had no reason to believe that Lemus had a weapon. JA 254, 705-06, 785, 812-13. Thomas again identified himself as police officer and instructed Lemus not to move but to show his hands. JA 236, 248-49, 254, 283, 705-06. According to Thomas and Mathis, Lemus did not follow Thomas's commands and reached toward the pocket of his sweatshirt. JA 142, 236, 255, 283, 706-07, 710, 722, 758, 764.

Unsure, but purportedly assuming Lemus had a weapon, Mathis ran into the house to call 911. JA 236, 246, 255, 706-07, 710-11, 722, 758, 764. According to Mathis, ten seconds after she entered the house and before she made the 911 call, she heard two consecutive gunshots. JA 236, 246, 254-56, 707, 722, 724, 728, 737, 759. Despite her assumption that Lemus was armed, and thus without knowing whether Lemus had injured Thomas, it was 87 seconds into the 911 call before Mathis confirmed, and then advised the dispatcher, that there had been a shooting. JA 256, 723-25, 728-29, 733, 760, 765.

According to Thomas, he fired two shots at Lemus when Lemus approached aggressively, reached into his pocket, and would not show his hands. JA 142, 283-84, 787-88, 790, 812, 814. Thomas said that he was afraid of what Lemus might

have—including possibly *a shotgun*—and what he might do, believing his life was in danger. JA 285, 789, 816-17. Thomas also claimed to fear for the safety of others in the home. JA 789, 807, 818. But he never saw Lemus with a weapon, and Mathis never felt a need to arm herself. JA 246, 285, 752-53, 766, 805-06.

Contrary to Thomas's account, Lemus later testified that while facing the car and trying to urinate, he heard Thomas charging toward him. JA 398-99, 405-07, 427, 439, 441. Thomas wore plain clothes and did not identify himself as a police officer. JA 399, 407, 427-28, 439, 441, 876. Lemus turned and raised his hands in a defensive posture. JA 399, 407, 429-30, 438-41. In response, Thomas pulled out his gun, pointed it at Lemus, and moved toward him. JA 399, 407-08, 429-30, 432, 440-41. Fearing that Thomas would shoot him, and without approaching Thomas or reaching into his pocket, Lemus tried to run away, at which point Thomas shot him twice in his left side as he turned to leave. JA 399-400, 408, 411, 414, 416, 430. One round hit Lemus's abdomen and the other his leg. JA 225-28, 412-14, 790.

2. The Hyattsville City Police Department Investigation Concludes With A Decision Not To Charge Either Thomas Or Lemus.

Hyattsville police officers responded to the shooting. JA 133, 495-96, 867-68. They found Lemus lying on the ground near the front of Thomas's car. JA 525. They detected a strong smell of alcohol coming from him and noted that his eyes were blood-shot and his speech slurred. JA 133. No damage to Thomas's car was evident before the shooting or discovered during the investigation. JA 793-94. And

there was no evidence that Lemus had the means to break into the car. JA 454.

Lemus remained in the hospital for nearly three months and underwent six surgeries. JA 410-11, 433. A year later, he was still unable to work. JA 396.

Two days after the shooting, a Hyattsville officer interviewed Lemus in the hospital. JA 144-45, 448, 453, 470. Lemus was heavily medicated for pain. JA 433, 442, 470, 472. Lemus believed he had been the victim of a robbery. JA 470-72, 486. When the officer asked if he recalled the encounter with Thomas, Lemus answered "no." JA 145, 471-72, 481, 484-86. Lemus did so because he did not want to make a statement before speaking with an attorney. JA 409-10, 433-34, 437.

At the end of the Hyattsville police investigation, the Prince George's County State's Attorney's Office declined to prosecute either Thomas or Lemus. JA 229, 235. The office did not charge Thomas because it did not believe it could prevail at trial given Lemus's statement that he could not recall what happened. JA 229, 451, 458-60, 475. Prosecutors did not charge Lemus because there was no evidence that he had committed a crime. JA 235, 453-54, 468.

- 3. MPD Terminates Thomas After Finding That He Had Engaged In Criminal Misconduct And Violated Its Use-Of-Force Directives.
 - A. MPD's internal affairs supervisors find the shooting of Lemus unjustified, and the Use of Force Review Board concurs.

An MPD internal affairs detective investigated the shooting. JA 336-39. Although the detective concluded that Thomas, acting as a "citizen," was justified

in shooting Lemus, the detective's supervisor Lieutenant Guy Middleton disagreed. JA 206-12, 520, 526, 533, 571. Middleton could not find the shooting proper simply because Thomas said that Lemus reached into his pocket and that Thomas feared for his life. JA 209, 566, 573-74, 576-77. Instead, Middleton believed that Thomas acted unreasonably at the outset by approaching Lemus in response to a possible property crime and by shooting when he had no reason to believe that Lemus had a weapon. JA 545-48, 575, 577, 583-84. Middleton's supervisors concurred. JA 114, 389, 541, 592-93. They referred the matter to the Use of Force Review Board ("UFRB") for a formal determination. JA 206-12, 388-89, 533, 540-42, 836.

The UFRB concluded that Thomas's actions were unjustified and noncompliant with departmental use-of-force policies. JA 191-94, 542-43, 838. It explained that under the totality of the circumstances Thomas's actions were unreasonable considering that he was off duty and outside MPD's jurisdiction, failed to notify local law enforcement before approaching Lemus, and needlessly placed himself close to Lemus. JA 191-94, 835-44. Lemus had also committed no crime and displayed no weapon, and his furtive gestures posed no threat that warranted Thomas shooting him multiple times. JA 191-94, 835-44. Based on its findings, the UFRB recommended that the matter be referred to the Departmental Disciplinary Review Office for disciplinary action. JA 194, 543.

B. MPD proposes to terminate Thomas for criminal misconduct and violations of MPD's use-of-force directives.

After receiving UFRB's recommendation, the Director of MPD's Disciplinary Review Branch issued a Notice of Proposed Adverse Action charging Thomas with two counts of misconduct and proposing his termination. JA 198-203. The first charge asserted that Thomas had violated MPD General Orders by committing an act that constituted a crime. JA 198. The Director found that Thomas had violated Maryland law by recklessly creating a substantial risk of death or serious injury to Lemus. JA 198. The second charge asserted a violation of MPD's General Orders for the use of force. JA 198. The Director determined that Thomas discharged his firearm needlessly. JA 198-99.

Having found Thomas guilty of this misconduct, the Director weighed the 12 factors identified in *Douglas v. Veterans Administration*, 5 M.S.P.R. 280 (1981), for assessing the appropriate disciplinary penalty and concluded that termination on each charge was warranted. JA 199-202. In particular, the notice advised Thomas of the Director's determination that "[t]he proposed penalty [wa]s consistent with the penalty imposed against other members for like or similar misconduct." JA 20, 200. The notice also informed Thomas of his right to request a review hearing before the Adverse Action Panel, which Thomas did. JA 52, 201.

C. The Adverse Action Panel finds Thomas guilty of both charges and determines that termination is the appropriate penalty for each charge after weighing the *Douglas* factors.

At a two-day hearing in late 2010, the Adverse Action Panel found Thomas guilty of both charges after hearing from 12 witnesses, including Lemus and Thomas, and admitting many exhibits. JA 301-881. It determined that Thomas acted "without legal authority" and found "no indication that Mr. Lemus was involved in illegal activity." JA 949-50. The Panel concluded that Thomas violated Maryland Code, Criminal Law § 3-204(a), which makes it a crime to "recklessly... engage in conduct that created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another." JA 951. And it found that Thomas acted recklessly when he failed to contact local law enforcement; left the safety of his home; and confronted Lemus where Lemus had committed no crime, had no weapon, and had no obligation to obey his commands. JA 951. The Panel also found that Thomas violated MPD useof-force directives because he "had no reason to discharge his firearm." JA 951. As the Panel stated, "Thomas shot an [unarmed] individual, who was not in violation of any law," and such deadly force was not "objectively reasonable." JA 951.

After finding Thomas guilty of the two charges, the Panel determined that the proposed penalty of termination was appropriate by weighing the *Douglas* factors. JA 952-55. *First*, the Panel found that the nature and seriousness of the offense was an aggravating factor, concluding that Thomas's "clearly inappropriate" and

"particularly egregious" actions raised serious concerns about his integrity and judgment as a law enforcement officer. JA 952. Second, the Panel concluded that Thomas's job level and type of employment was also an aggravating factor because, as a uniformed police officer, he was expected to use his "specialized training in real-life situations, even while off-duty." JA 952. Third, the Panel considered Thomas's disciplinary history to be a neutral factor. JA 952. It found that although there was no evidence of past discipline, the extent of his misconduct here offset that record. JA 952. Fourth, the Panel found that Thomas's work record was an aggravating factor. JA 952-53. While there were no issues with his day-to-day performance, the panel concluded that his clear violation of policies and procedures here raised serious concerns about his judgment. JA 952-53. Fifth, the Panel concluded that the effect of the misconduct on Thomas's ability to perform at a satisfactory level with supervisory confidence was another aggravating factor. JA 953. The Panel explained that he could be expected to face similar situations in the future but his failure to maintain his composure with Lemus had eroded MPD's confidence in his ability adequately to perform his job. JA 953.

Sixth, the Panel found, without citing specific cases, that the proposed penalty was consistent with that imposed on others for similar misconduct. JA 953. As to the seventh factor, the Panel found that termination matched the MPD's Table of Penalties, and thus this factor was also aggravating. JA 953. In fact, removal was

the only table penalty available for Thomas's violation of Maryland law. See JA 953. Eighth, the Panel concluded that the effect of the misconduct on MPD's reputation was an aggravating factor. JA 953. It noted that, although the media had not reported the incident, authorities had documented the events in records outside the agency, adversely affecting MPD's reputation. JA 953. Ninth, the Panel found, when considering whether Thomas was on notice of the rules he violated, that his failure to adhere to agency rules and polices mandated by the Chief of Police was an aggravating factor. JA 954. Tenth, the Panel found that Thomas lacked any potential for rehabilitation because he had made no effort to avoid a confrontation with Lemus. JA 954. In the Panel's view, this was an aggravating factor. JA 954. *Eleventh*, the Panel found no evidence that would mitigate Thomas's misconduct. JA 954. Twelfth, the Panel found that because of the seriousness of the misconduct, termination was the only effective sanction and deterrent. JA 954.

After "carefully consider[ing]" the *Douglas* factors, the Panel concluded that they were aggravating on balance and supported termination on each charge. JA 955. The Director of MPD's Human Resource Management Division accepted the Panel's recommendation and issued Thomas a final termination notice. JA 963-64.

D. Chief Lanier denies Thomas's appeal.

Thomas appealed his termination to then-Chief of Police Cathy Lanier. JA 978-85. He asserted for the first time that the Panel "clearly failed to look at other

adverse action cases for purposes of comparative discipline [under *Douglas* factor 6] when crafting the penalty because termination is not what has previously been recommended under similar circumstances." JA 984-85. Thomas provided one example in which Officer Edward Ford's 2007 termination was reduced to a 45-day suspension after he shot and killed an unarmed suspect who was attacking him while off duty. JA 987-92. No one claimed that Ford's conduct was criminal. JA 988-89.

Chief Lanier denied Thomas's appeal. JA 957-60. She rejected Thomas's claim that "a review of the Panel's analysis under the *Douglas* Factors demonstrates that termination is an inappropriate penalty." JA 958. In finding that termination was appropriate—and that the shooting reflected "incredibly poor judgment"—she noted that some factors in MPD's calculus carried more weight than others, including the severity of the misconduct and other aggravating factors. JA 959. FOP then invoked arbitration under the collective bargaining agreement. JA 993.

4. FOP's Arbitration Request.

FOP asked the arbitrator to consider two issues: whether "the evidence presented by [MPD] was sufficient to support the alleged charges of commission of a crime and unreasonable use of force" and whether "termination [wa]s an appropriate remedy." JA 995. As to the penalty, FOP urged the arbitrator to look to external law and apply *Douglas*. JA 1028-30, 1075-79.

In Douglas, the federal Merit Systems Protection Board ("MSPB") found that

it had the limited "authority to mitigate penalties when [it] determines that the agency-imposed penalty is clearly excessive, disproportionate to the sustained charges, or arbitrary, capricious, or unreasonable." 5 M.S.P.R. at 284. In making this assessment, MSPB reviews "the agency's penalty selection to be satisfied (1) that on the charges sustained by the Board the agency's penalty is within the range allowed by law, regulation, and any applicable table of penalties, and (2) that the penalty was based on a consideration of the relevant factors and [that] there has [not] been a clear error of judgment." *Id.* at 301 (cleaned up). Under *Douglas*, the agency must balance the 12 non-exhaustive factors cited above, and the MSPB then ensures that the agency "did conscientiously consider the relevant factors and did strike a responsible balance within tolerable limits of reasonableness." Id. at 306. "Only if [MSPB] finds that the agency failed to weigh the relevant factors, or that the agency's judgment clearly exceeded the limits of reasonableness, is it appropriate for [it] then to specify how the agency's decision should be corrected to bring the penalty within the parameters of reasonableness." *Id*.

In making its *Douglas* argument, the FOP urged the arbitrator "to determine whether the agency properly weighed the relevant [*Douglas*] factors to see if the decision was within reasonable limits." JA 1029. And it emphasized that "[t]he Arbitrator may ultimately determine that the Panel's weighing of the *Douglas* Factors was improper" and that MPD's penalty decision was "arbitrary and

capricious." JA 1039, 1077. To this end, FOP urged the arbitrator to undertake "an independent review of the *Douglas* factors." JA 1079.

FOP further argued in its opening brief before the arbitrator that the Panel had been required under *Douglas* factor 6 to review the discipline awarded in similar cases. JA 1033-34. According to FOP, the Panel had not done so because it simply accepted the Director's assertion that his recommended discipline was comparable. JA 1033-34. In its reply, FOP elaborated, urging the arbitrator—over MPD's objection—to find under *Douglas* that the Panel had to identify the comparable cases on which it relied. JA 1081-82. And it asked the arbitrator to consider two new cases where an arbitrator reduced the penalties for officers. JA 1088-1110.

- 5. The Arbitrator Upholds MPD's Finding Of Guilt But Reduces The Penalty To An Unconditional 45-Day Suspension.
 - A. The arbitrator finds sufficient evidence that the shooting was criminal and violated MPD's use-of-force policies.

The arbitrator found sufficient evidence supporting MPD's finding of guilt on both charges. JA 24. He first found that Thomas was guilty of criminal misconduct, concluding that he violated Maryland's reckless endangerment statute with lifethreatening consequences.

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