#### No. 24-CV-0573

# IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Clerk of the Court DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENSIZ3/2025 01:12 PM Filed 03/24/2025 01:12 PM

#### APPELLANT,

V.

## DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RELATIONS BOARD; FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE/METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT LABOR COMITTEE,

#### APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (Case No. 2023-CAB-002461)
The Honorable Shana Frost Matini Presiding

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RELATIONS BOARD

FOR WEBSTER & FREDRICKSON, PLLC

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

The next concern identified by the Court is closely interrelated with the previous ones: MPD contends the Arbitrator did not find either that MPD failed to weigh the relevant factors or that the proposed sanction fell outside

the limits of reasonableness. As PERB held, the Arbitrator did make such a finding and weigh such evidence. (JA 1166.) In fact, the Arbitrator rejected the Hearing Panel's analysis on *Douglas* factors 6 (consistency of the penalty), 10 (potential for rehabilitation) and 12 (no other sanction could suffice) and explained his reasoning for those conclusions. (JA 27.) Those were the "pertinent" *Douglas* factors for which MPD did not have support. (JA 27; *see also* JA 1166. PERB reasonably applied the "on its face contrary to law and public policy standard" as outlined in its prior decisions and as stated in *Thomas I*.

Lastly, the premise of MPD's argument boils down to its contention that the Ford case is not close enough to draw a meaningful comparison and that MPD itself was not required to offer evidence of comparative discipline. As described above, PERB explained that MPD agreed to the Arbitrator's factual determinations as to whether the Ford case is sufficiently close. (JA 1165.) PERB is bound to accept the factual findings of the Arbitrator. *Major League Baseball Players Ass'n v. Garvey*, 532 U.S. 504, 509 (2001) (*quoting United Paperworkers Int'l Union, AFL-CIO v. Misco, Inc.*, 484 U.S. 29, 39 (1987)). As the Supreme Court held "Courts are not authorized to review an arbitrator's decision on the merits despite allegations that the decision rests on factual errors." *Id.* The Supreme Court has gone so far as to explain,

"When an arbitrator resolves disputes regarding the application of a contract, and no dishonesty is alleged, the arbitrator's improvident, even silly, factfinding does not provide a basis for a reviewing court to refuse to enforce the award." *Id.* A dispute over the weight of evidence, even where a party believes the Arbitrator was "silly," is not grounds for reversal.

There was nothing silly about Arbitrator Pritzker's fact finding. He rejected FOP's proffered comparison to misconduct in two of three instances FOP had presented. (JA 26-27.) The Ford matter included the following description of events:

When Sergeant Colin Hall arrived on the scene, he asked the offduty duty officer to come out of the alley. You were that off-duty officer in the alley. You were pursuing Mr. Ignatius Brown, the person suspected of stealing your property. You were directed by Sergeant Hall to let the investigators handle the theft of your property. Sergeant Parson specifically advised you that the investigators would handle the case. Sergeant Parson further directed you not to pursue Mr. Brown again, especially attired in garments that would not allow you to be easily identified as a police officer. . . .

[W]hile off duty, again you saw Mr. Ignatius Brown. Again you took matters into your own hands and approached Mr. Brown. A brief verbal confrontation ensued . . . . Mr. Brown told you that he was not going back to jail and . . . started swinging and kicking towards you. You attempted to keep Mr. Brown away . . . . You then then drew your service weapon and held it in both hands. When Mr. Brown lunged forward, you discharged one (1) round from your departmental issued Glock-17 service pistol, striking Mr. Brown . . . . [T]he Use of Force Review Board found that you used your department issued service weapon unjustifiabl[y]

when you shot Mr. Ignatius Brown, killing him, on February 22, 2006. Your actions were in violation of the above General Orders.

(JA 988-89 (emphasis added).) MPD seeks to sanitize what Ford had done by emphasizing that the man Ford shot had lunged at Officer Ford. But the record shows that Ford disobeyed orders, took the law into his own hands, instigated a hostile incident, and shot and killed a man. (JA 988-89.) MPD penalized Ford with a 45-day suspension. (JA 26-27.)

So, which is worse? Ford took a man's life. But we see that Ford's victim had lunged at him—but did so after Ford disobeved orders and initiated the confrontation. Thomas did not kill anyone. But we do not see that Lemus attacked Thomas in the same way. The underlying events are not identical, but the Ford case is sufficiently close that an arbitrator can reasonably rely on it as guidance for ascertaining the consistency of the penalty in deciding what the appropriate penalty for Thomas was. Another factfinder might have found that termination was warranted in both cases. Still another might find Ford's conduct more severe. A third might agree that Thomas' was worse than Ford's. But MPD itself had determined that an off-duty officer who instigates a confrontation resulting in a shooting does not necessarily require that such an officer be fired. And MPD never offered countervailing examples supporting that such conduct did warrant termination.

Where MPD complains that PERB does not address its argument as to the distinctions between Ford and Thomas, it seeks to impose a role for PERB and for this Court that is not theirs to fill. PERB explained plainly that the analysis of factual similarities between Ford and Thomas are squarely in the realm of the Arbitrator. PERB's role is not to ascertain the correctness of the Arbitrator's decision, only to determine if it broke the law. Given that MPD had, on its own accord, determined that a 45-day suspension was appropriate for Ford, Arbitrator Pritzker's determination that Thomas ought to have a 45-day suspension too is not so far out of bounds that it itself violates the law. *Compare Thomas I*, 282 A.3d at 605 (decision can be so disproportionate as to violate the law). The person who was bargained for here to make this factual call is the Arbitrator, and PERB reasonably declined to re-visit the factual determinations under well-established standards.

Under a reasonable interpretation of the CMPA, its own longstanding precedent, decisions by the Court of Appeals, PERB concluded that the Arbitrator is the fact finder. Substantial evidence supports PERB's conclusion that the comparison between Thomas and Ford is a factual question left for the Arbitrator's determination. This conclusion is not clearly erroneous.

## II. PERB Reasonably Refused to Set Aside the Award As Contrary to Public Policy

The last grounds for remand was for PERB to further explain its reasoning that the Award did not violate the public policy associated with returning an officer who had engaged in serious misconduct to work. *Thomas* I, 282 A.3d at 606. The Court set forth the legal standard:

The public-policy exception to the enforcement of arbitral awards is "extremely narrow." D.C. Metro. Police Dep't, 901 A.2d at 789 (internal quotation marks omitted). The "public policy alleged to be contravened must be well defined and dominant, and is to be ascertained by reference to the laws and legal precedents and not from general considerations of supposed public interests." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). The Supreme Court of the United States has explained that the issue is not whether the employee's misconduct violated public policy but rather whether enforcing the arbitral award would do so. *E. Associated Coal Corp. v. UMW, Dist. 17*, 531 U.S. 57, 62-63, 121 S.Ct. 462, 148 L.Ed.2d 354 (2000).

#### The Court continued:

The Supreme Court also has stated, however, that "courts' authority to invoke the public policy exception is not limited solely to instances where the arbitration award itself violates positive law." *Id.* at 63, 121 S.Ct. 462. It does not appear that either PERB or this court has expressly addressed the latter issue.

## *Id.* The Court then outlined the dispute as follows:

Rather, the dispute is over whether reinstating Officer Thomas would violate that public policy. Courts around the country have divided when confronting similar issues. *Compare*, *e.g.*, *City of Seattle, Seattle Police Dep't v. Seattle Police Officers' Guild*, 17 Wash.App.2d 21, 484 P.3d 485, 489-507 (Ct. App. 2021)

(upholding trial-court order setting aside arbitral award as against public policy, where arbitrator reinstated officer who used excessive force by punching handcuffed suspect in face, breaking suspect's orbital bone), and City of Des Plaines v. Metro, Alliance of Police, Chapter No. 240, 391 Ill.Dec. 328, 30 N.E.3d 598, 600-610 (App. Ct. 2015) (upholding in part trialcourt order setting aside arbitral award as against public policy, where arbitrator reinstated officer who used excessive force against arrestees; case remanded for arbitrator to further consider appropriate sanction), with, e.g., Town of South Windsor v. S. Windsor Police Union Loc. 1480, 255 Conn. 800, 770 A.2d 14, 16-30 (2001) (reversing order setting aside arbitral award as contrary to public policy, where arbitrator reinstated officer who pointed gun at young men playing basketball without permission gymnasium): see at generally Tracy Bateman Farrell, Vacating on Public Policy **Arbitration** Awards Reinstatina Discharged *Employees—State Cases*, 112 A.L.R.5th 263, § 18 (2003 & Cum. Supp.) (citing cases).

Addressing this issue in detail, PERB provided the grounds in which it may set aside an award on public policy grounds:

An arbitral award reversing termination will violate established public policy that is embodied in explicit law precluding the employee's reinstatement. In the absence of such explicit law, determining whether an arbitral award violates public policy is a fact-specific inquiry. The Board may look to several factors to determine whether an arbitral award violates public policy, including whether there is a longstanding practice of requiring the termination of similarly situated employees, the severity of the employee misconduct, the potential for employee rehabilitation, the employee's prior history of misconduct, the likelihood of repeat offense, the employee's amenability to discipline, whether an arbitral award reinstating an employee is conditioned on other forms of discipline, and other fact-specific mitigating factors.

(JA 1168-69.) To arrive that this statement of the law, PERB drew on cases from across the country in establishing this standard which marries the reasoning of other decisions, the Court's instructions and observations with this Court's precedent, PERB precedent, and PERB's expertise. (JA 1168.)

This standard is consistent with the broad sweep of decisions from across the country. Even in cases where sister courts have found that reinstatement of a public employee can violate public policy, those courts generally require something more than general opposition to employing an individual who had done something wrong.

Applying this standard here, the first question is, is there an explicit law forbidding enforcing the Award by reinstating the officer? There is also no law barring Thomas's return. MPD notes that there are (unsurprisingly) laws and rules which prohibit unlawful shootings by police officers. Yet, the Award did not order Officer Thomas to shoot anyone. 6-A DCMR § 207 and MPD's General Orders set standards do not require termination for those who engage in misconduct or otherwise explicitly forbid such officers from returning to work.

MPD now claims D.C. Code §§ 5-107.01, 22-402, 22-404, and 6-B DCMR § 873.11 require termination, but none do. On its face, 6-B DCMR § 873, applies to pre-employment applicants and says nothing about

discipline. The same is true of D.C. Code § 5-107.01(f)(1)—a law that post-dates the conduct here by a decade and was enacted well after the Arbitrator made his Award.

The next question is to analyze the factors in a fact-specific inquiry. The public policy must ordinarily be more than a simple reluctance to return an employee to work who had engaged in misconduct. For example, the Illinois court explicitly holds that looks at "the constant practice of the government officials when determining questions regarding public policy." *City of Aurora v. Ass'n of Prof'l Police Officers*, 2019 IL App (2d) 180375, ¶ 53, 429 Ill. Dec. 362, 373, 124 N.E.3d 558, 569 (quotation omitted).

The Court of Appeals cited *City of Seattle, Seattle Police Dep't v. Seattle Police Officers' Guild,* 484 P.3d 485, 489-507 ("SPD") as another example where a court set aside an arbitration award reinstating a police officer as violating public policy. At the center of *SPD* was the fact that the Seattle Police Department had entered into a consent decree with the Department of Justice because the Department had engaged in a pattern and practice of using excessive force. The public policy at issue stemmed from preventing such a pattern from taking hold. There is no such consent decree here of the sort which gave rise to the well-defined public policy identified by the Washington courts. The need for an enforcement mechanism to ensure no

pattern resurfaced pursuant to the Consent Decree gave rise to the public policy beyond the general public policy that officers ought not to engage in misconduct, even serious misconduct. *Id*.

That MPD was unable to identify comparable cases where it fired MPD officers for conduct like that engaged in by Officer Thomas (and in fact in the closest case in the record, Ford, reflected a practice akin to that ordered by the Arbitrator) tells the story that (1) there is no "constant practice" of firing similarly situated officers; and (2) the District MPD does not suffer from the same lack of enforcement mechanisms as SPD--the same public policy is not at stake. MPD now has identified four additional instances it states that MPD officers were fired for misconduct like that of Officer Thomas. As FOP notes, those cases were not cited in Arbitration or prior to this appeal, and reliance on them is waived. *Thomas I*, 282 A.3d at 605; *see also* FOP Br. at 26.

Otherwise, even egregious misconduct is usually not enough to make reinstatement of an employee who had engaged in misconduct, *vel non*, a violation of law and public policy. In *District of Columbia Dep't of Corrections v. Teamsters Union Local 246*, 554 A.2d 319 (D.C. 1989) a Department of Corrections ("DOC") Officer encountered an ex-inmate, tried to buy heroin, and then assaulted the ex-inmate with a hammer. *Id.*at 320.DOC terminated the Officer, but the arbitrator awarded reinstatement.

*Id*.DOC asked that this award not be enforced, but the Court of Appeals refused because to refuse would be to improperly apply "some free-floating notion of 'policy." *Id*. at 323. The conduct there was premeditated. Thomas' misconduct was not.

In *Town of South Windsor v. S. Windsor Police Union Loc. 1480*, 770 A.2d 14, 16-30 (Conn. 2001), identified by the Court of Appeals, the Connecticut court affirmed an arbitration award. It found no violation of public policy to reinstate an officer who had pointed a gun at youth and rejected many of the same arguments made by MPD here.

MPD has cited a host of additional cases seeking to establish its point that reinstating employees who had engaged in egregious misconduct can violate public policy, but all generally agree something more than misconduct is necessary to overturn an award, whether that is untruthfulness, see In re Bukowski, 50 N.Y.S.3d. 588 (N.Y. App. Div. 2017), City of Boston v. Boston Police Patrolmen's Ass'n,824 N.E.2d 855 (Mass.2005), or membership in a domestic terrorist organization, State v. Henderson, 762 N.W.2d 1 (Neb. 2009). Whether these factors would be enough under the narrow standard under District law remains to be seen—one expects membership in the KKK would preclude employment for other

specific grounds—but none of these cases reflect a well-defined and dominant public policy applicable in this case.

MPD now cites *Burr Rd*. *Operating Co. II, LLC v. New England Health Care Emps. Union, Dist.* 1199, 114 A.3d 144 (Conn. 2015) for the proposition that there are four principle factors to be considered. Yet, reliance on *Burr* is waived (*see* FOP Br. at 31-36), and *Burr* is not controlling. *Burr* is no more than another case among the span PERB considered in articulating the standard applicable in the District of Columbia—and it is among the least persuasive because it involved *de novo* review of an arbitration award by a Court unlike the system established by the CMPA.

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